COURTON APPEALS DO NO. 10. STATE OF VISHINGTON BY

TON SUPREME COURT 9\506 - 7
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 319628-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON				
IRA AND ROBERT WILLIAMS,				
Petitioners,				
v.				
UNDERWIRE SERVICES, ET AL,				
Respondent.				
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITTITAS COUNTY The Honorable Frances P. Chmelewski, Judge				
PETITION FOR REVIEW				

JAMES R. DIXON Attorney for Appellant

Dixon & Cannon, Ltd. 601 Union Street, Suite 3230 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 957-2247

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Ira and Robert Williams, plaintiffs below, ask this

Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section

B below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The trial court granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment, which the Court of Appeals affirmed in *Williams v. Underwire Services*, Slip Op. No. 31962-8-III (filed Feb. 24, 2015).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Plaintiffs filed a lawsuit against out-of-state defendants. Before service was achieved, both defendants filed a notice of appearance. The defendants did not file an answer, but instead immediately began the discovery process by propounding extensive interrogatories and requests for production. None of the approximately 200 interrogatory questions were directed at a service issue. It was not until more than three years later that defendants first raised the affirmative defense of lack of service. The court of appeals found the defendants had not waived the inadequate service of process issue. Is this ruling inconsistent with this Court's holding

in Lybbert v. Grant County, thereby making review appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1)?

2. Despite this Court's ruling in *Lybbert*, lower courts continue to struggle with how the waiver doctrine should be applied to the affirmative defense of improper or no service. This has led to lengthy factual inquiries at the trial and appellate levels, confusion over what factors should be considered, and inconsistent results. *Lybbert* suggested, without specifically stating, a bright line rule: a defendant waives an affirmative defense of lack of service when he or she engages in substantive, non-service related discovery without first raising that affirmative defense in an answer or other pleading. Because the absence of a clearly stated bright line rule results in confusion and unnecessary litigation, should this Court accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)?

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Travis Heckmaster was a truck driver employed by Underwire Services. CP 68. On February 20, 2007, Heckmaster was driving his 18-wheeler on I-90 near Snoqualmie Pass. Conditions were snowy and chains were required. CP 68-69. Travis Heckmaster, however, elected not to stop and put on the chains. As a result, Heckmaster lost control of his big rig truck and slammed into the rear of a truck driven by Ira Wil-

¹ 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000).

liams. CP 69. Ira suffered injuries in the collision, for which she was still receiving treatment more than three years later. CP 8, 69.

On February 19, 2010, Ira Williams, and her husband, Robert Williams, filed a lawsuit in Kittitas Superior Court against Heckmaster and his employer, Underwire Services (hereafter, "Underwire"). CP 1-3. Neither Heckmaster nor Underwire resided within Washington. Accordingly, the complaint noted that Heckmaster and Underwire would be served through the Secretary of State and the company's registered agent. CP 1-2.

On April 22, 2010, both defendants formally appeared through their attorney of record, Robert Tenney. CP 6-7. Neither defendant filed an answer, choosing instead to delve directly into substantive discovery. On April 27, 2010, defendants sent interrogatories and requests for production to plaintiffs, as well as a request for statement of damages. CP 68-106.

Defendants' interrogatories were extensive. There were 71 questions, with many of those questions containing multiple sub-sections. All told, this equaled approximately 200 interrogatory questions to each plaintiff. CP 73-106. There were also 20 separate requests for production. CP 98-105. These discovery requests were all directed at liability and damage issues. None of the questions touched upon service of process, nor gave

any indication that the defendants were concerned, interested, or objected to the fact that they had not been formally served. See CP 73-106.

In light of the extensive discovery sent by both defendants, the prose plaintiffs believed "the lawsuit was now fully underway and that service on the Defendants was no longer a necessity." CP 7. While there still was more than sufficient time to serve the defendants through the Secretary of State, plaintiffs did not do so, believing that it was no longer necessary. *Id*.

The defendants never did file an answer objecting to the lack of service. Beginning in October of 2010 there were discussions between defense counsel and Mr. Rowley, an attorney assisting the pro-se plaintiffs. CP 59; 114. These discussions related to the merits of the case, as well as the potential service issue. *Id.* Despite these informal conversations, defense counsel did not file an objection to the lack of service until more than three years after the filing of the lawsuit. CP 69.

On July 30, 2013, defense counsel filed a CR 56 summary judgment motion to dismiss for lack of service. CP 11-12. The Williams responded with *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000), a case in which this Court found that defendants waive their right to require formal service when they commence discovery completely unrelated to any service issue. Plaintiffs' counsel explained that had defendants

dants first filed an answer asserting this defense before propounding the discovery, plaintiffs would have known service was still necessary. But by engaging in discovery completely unrelated to process of service, defendants signaled their intent to go forward with the case. CP 39-43; RP 3-7.

Defendants replied that merely engaging in discovery before noting an objection did not waive the service issue. The defense claimed that under *Lybbert*, plaintiffs must demonstrate some other factor, such as lying in weeds, before the case could be dismissed. CP 107-12. Defense counsel stated that at the time he sent over the discovery requests, he did not know that service had not been completed, and therefore there could be no waiver. CP 113-14. The trial court agreed with the defense and granted the summary judgment motion. CP 116-19.

The court of appeals affirmed the dismissal in a 21-page unpublished decision. Williams v. Underwire Services, Slip Op. No. 31962-8-III (filed Feb. 24, 2015). In that lengthy decision, the court attempted to weigh a number of factors, including the amount of discovery that occurred, the defendants' subjective motivation, as well as the plaintiffs' efforts to achieve service. The court believed that the existing law required it to reexamine all of these factors in a de novo review, rather than applying a bright line rule that once the defense joins the battle by commencing

discovery, the defense waives the right to demand further formal service of process. Slip Op. at 14-15.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Overview

This Court in *Lybbert* recognized a very broad rule of waiver when applied to the affirmative defense of lack of service. The defendant in that case commenced discovery without first objecting to the lack of service. *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 32-34. This Court held that by engaging in discovery unrelated to the service issue, at a time in which the plaintiff could have still perfected service, the defense had waived the right to later assert that it had never received proper notice of the lawsuit. *Id.* at 41.

Unfortunately, the *Lybbert* rule has not always been embraced by lower courts, which instead place undue emphasis on the particular facts of *Lybbert*. See e.g., *Dybdahl v. Nguyet Huynh*, 157 Wn. App. 408, 416-17, 236 P.3d 986 (2010). Although *Lybbert* recognized that the dispositive issue was whether the defense commenced discovery without first objecting to the lack of service, there was additional discussion within *Lybbert* that the defendant should have known that the summons had not been properly served. *Lybbert*, at 41-42. Focusing upon the specific facts in *Lybbert*, rather than the rationale, the court of appeals in the instant case believed plaintiffs were required to present evidence of the defendants'

subjective knowledge at the time they commenced discovery. Slip Op. at 18-19.

This misunderstanding is based, in part, upon a particular sentence in *Lybbert* that is taken out of context. This Court in *Lybbert* stated, "the mere act of engaging in discovery 'is not always tantamount to conduct inconsistent with a later assertion of the defense of insufficient service.' [internal citation omitted]" *Lybbert* 141 Wn.2d at 41. On its own, this sentence suggests that mere commencement of discovery might be insufficient to create waiver. In context, however, what this Court stated was that not all discovery creates a waiver, as some discovery may be directed at the service issue. *Lybbert* 141 Wn.2d at 41. This current case provides this Court with an opportunity to clear up this misunderstanding.

The present case presents this Court with an opportunity to state simply and objectively the two alternative tests for a waiver in a process of service affirmative defense: (1) If, prior to the statute of limitations running, the defendant has not formally asserted the affirmative defense, yet engages in discovery solely on the merits of the case and unrelated to the service issue, there is waiver; (2) If the defendant knows that service has not taken place within the limitations time period, but waits three years or more thereafter to assert such defense in a pleading or motion, there is waiver. The lower court should not have to engage in a subjective inquiry

as to how much discovery was completed or what the defendant knew or did not know. Such a time consuming inquiry, without any set standards, necessarily results in inconsistent results and needless summary judgment motions and subsequent appeals.

Moreover, this bright line rule, which is just an amalgam of existing law, places no real hardship on defendants. In order to prevent waiver, defendants appearing before the limitations period has run, can either (1) file an answer that raises the defense before propounding substantive, non-service discovery requests; or (2) enter an appearance and propound service related discovery. What they cannot do is make it appear that service is not necessary at a time when it could have been accomplished but was not, because of the inconsistent conduct of the defendant.

Because the court of appeals ruling is contrary to this Court's decision in *Lybbert*, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Further, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) when the challenged ruling presents a standard that "invites unnecessary litigation . . . and creates confusion generally." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). This service issue is one that cries for clarification and an easily implemented bright line rule.

2. The court of appeals misconstrued the test for waiver set forth in Lybbert v. Grant County and Romjue v. Fairchild.

Two Washington cases lay the groundwork for establishing waiver of service issues. In *Romjue v. Fairchild*, 60 Wn. App. 278, 803 P.2d 57 (1991), the plaintiff filed a lawsuit shortly before expiration. The defendant filed a notice of appearance and then sent over interrogatories. After the time period for service had passed, the defense filed a motion to dismiss based on insufficient service. The *Romjue* court stated, "the dispositive issue is whether Mr. Fairchild waived the defense of insufficient service because he engaged in discovery before he moved to dismiss." *Id.* at 281. The court stated that because the discovery was not directed at service or statute of limitations issues, the discovery constituted a waiver of the service issue. *Id.*

Eight years later, this Court was called upon to decide a case involving similar facts. In *Lybbert v. Grant County, supra*, a driver and passenger filed a timely suit against Grant County for a poorly maintained road that had resulted in personal injuries. The county filed a notice of appearance stating it was not "waiving objections to improper service or jurisdiction." *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 32. Similar to our case, the defendants did not file a timely answer, which would have notified plaintiffs that service had been on the wrong government official. It was only after

the statute of limitations expired that defendants raised the service issue. *Id.* at 32-34. The defendants moved for summary judgment based on improper service, which was granted by the trial court. *Id.* at 34.

The court of appeals reversed the trial court, finding that defendants had "acted in a manner inconsistent with the later assertion of the defense of insufficient service." *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 93 Wn. App. 627, 633, 969 P.2d 1112 (1999), *affirmed* 141 Wn.2d 29, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). The defendants sought and obtained review at the Washington Supreme Court.

The Supreme Court agreed with the court of appeals that the defendants had waived the service issue by engaging in discovery before preserving the service issue in an answer. *Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 41. In doing so, this Court relied upon the earlier decision in *Romjue*. The Court noted, "The issue there, as here, was whether the defendants waived the defense by participating in discovery and failing to assert the defense prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations." *Id*.

This Court explained that not all discovery will constitute waiver.

Rather, only that discovery which is not directed at the service issue will create waiver:

The *Romjue* court quite properly noted that the mere act of engaging in discovery "is not always tantamount to conduct inconsistent with a later assertion of the defense of insuffi-

cient service." Romjue, 60 Wn. App. at 281. This is so because in some circumstances it may be entirely appropriate for a party to engage in discovery to determine if the facts exist to support a defense of insufficient service. Romjue, 60 Wn. App. at 281; see also Matthies v. Knodel 19 Wn. App. 1, 5-6, 573 P.2d 1332 (1977) (observing that deposition was taken to find out if defense existed for the defendant). The Romjue court went on to conclude, however, that the defendants' discovery efforts were inconsistent with the later asserted defense because it was not geared toward elucidating facts relating to a defense of insufficient service of process.

Lybbert 141 Wn.2d at 41-42 (emphasis added). In the present case, the court of appeals took the first sentence of the above quote out of context, ruling that, "A party must do more than simply conduct discovery." Slip Op. at 15. Other courts have similarly misinterpreted this language. See e.g., Harvey v. Obermeit, 163 Wn. App. 311, 261 P.3d 671 (2010); Dybdahl, 157 Wn. App. at 416-17.

The court of appeals placed great emphasis on defense counsel's averment that he did not know whether service had been achieved at the time he commenced discovery. Slip Op. at 19. The court of appeals appears to believe that a defendant must be aware of deficient service before he can waive the issue. Such reasoning is flawed. By commencing discovery before the expiration of the 90 day service of process period, and without objecting to the lack of service or even ascertaining whether ser-

vice had been achieved, defendants communicated that the battle was joined. Service was unnecessary.

The court of appeals also distinguished the current case from other published cases on the basis that "the Williamses present no evidence that they took any steps to perfect service." Slip Op. at 20. The court noted that in these other cases the plaintiffs attempted service on the defendant. *Id.* But this misses the point. The concept behind waiver is that once the defense has signaled intent to waive a particular right or procedure, no additional action is needed. In the current case, the defendants commenced discovery before the Secretary of State had been served. In doing so, defendants engaged in litigation that rendered pursuit of service unnecessary. The court of appeals reasoning highlights the continuing confusion associated with this issue.

There are strong policy reasons supporting *Lybbert's* broad rule of waiver in this particular context. After all, anytime a defendant propounds discovery requests on a plaintiff, it is apparent the defendant has notice of the lawsuit. While our legislature has determined that a defendant has a right to service of process, and not just knowledge of the lawsuit, this is not a due process right that goes to the heart of the justice system. Defendants will not suffer in the presentation of their case because they had knowledge but not service. Accordingly, it is only reasonable that the

courts are more willing to find waiver of this particular defense. This is especially true when it is balanced against the need for judicial efficiency and the very real concern that plaintiffs will be misled to their detriment by inconsistent or dilatory behavior on the part of defendants.

3. The court of appeals reliance upon *Harvey v. Obermeit* highlights the confusion under existing law.

The court of appeals placed great reliance upon *Harvey v. Obermeit*, *supra*, in holding that something more than just unrelated discovery is needed to establish waiver. See Slip Op. at 16-18. The court's reliance on *Harvey* is misguided, as that case dealt with a different aspect of the waiver rule. There are two different rules in evaluating whether a defendant's commencement of discovery creates waiver. First, there are cases in which the defendant engages in discovery without first noting an objection to, or raising an issue about, the process of service. That is what happened in our case. In these types of cases, the court has found waiver when the defendant engages in discovery unrelated to the service issue. See e.g., *Lyybert*, at 41; *Romjue* at 281.

Second, there are cases where the defendant <u>does</u> first file a timely objection and only then commences substantive discovery. The question in those cases is whether the discovery that was unrelated to the service of process issue was extensive enough to overcome the earlier formally as-

serted limitations objection. See e.g., French v. Gabriel, 116 Wn.2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991) (once a defendant properly preserves a defense by pleading it in the answer, the defendant is not precluded from proceeding with discovery); King v. Snohomish County, 146 Wn.2d 420, 426, 47 P.3d 563 (2002) (extensive discovery waived earlier improper service objection). Harvey fits within this second set of cases, as the defendants there, before engaging in discovery, raised the service issue in a timely filed answer. Harvey, 163 Wn. App. at 314.

Had the defendants in the current case done the same thing before submitting the extensive interrogatory requests, the Williamses would have been on notice that despite initiating such discovery, the defense had not waived the service issue. Thereafter, if the Williamses still did not timely serve the defendants, they would have to point to something more than the defense's commencement of discovery to overcome the earlier objection. But the defendants did not file an objection as to service, and in their discovery did not raise any concerns, issues, or questions as to the status of service. Instead they dove into wide-ranging, substantive discovery, at a time when the plaintiffs still had time to effect service. This understandably caused the plaintiffs to believe "the lawsuit was now fully underway and that service on the defendants was no longer a necessity."

CP 69. The court of appeals misapplication of *Harvey* to the facts in the present case reveals the level of confusion surrounding the waiver issue.

4. Public policy and judicial efficiency support a broad waiver rule and an easy to apply test.

Judicial efficiency is promoted at the trial and appellate level by a black letter rule that process of service issues are waived when defendant engages in unrelated discovery. Such a rule is easily understood and applied. As the United States Supreme Court recently explained, the value of a simple rule to follow is that it "keeps an easy case easy." Florida v. Jardines, __ U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 1417, 185 L. Ed. 2d 495 (U.S. 2013). By contrast, the waiver rule envisioned by the defense is difficult to implement. Should each trial court be required to weigh how much discovery is needed to waive the defense, or to engage in seemingly endless inquiry as to what the defense knew and what the plaintiff assumed? The current case demonstrates the inefficiency in the process. Not only was there a summary judgment hearing, and follow up appeal, but it took the court of appeals 21 pages to try and balance the various factors. As noted above, without proper standards in this area, many of the factors the court did address were not proper considerations for whether defendants had waived this affirmative defense.

Nor would the waste of judicial resources be limited to the trial court. First, in the absence of a straightforward test, there are multiple unnecessary appeals following summary judgment. Second, because the standard of review is de novo, the appellate court must engage in the exact same time consuming examination as that conducted by the trial court. See e.g., Blankenship v. Kaldor, 114, Wn. App. 312, 57 P.3d 295 (2002). The Lybbert test can prevent this needless inquiry.

Under *Lybbert*, the test is clear: engaging in non-service related discovery waives the service issue. Such a rule does not create any hardship on defendants. If service has not been completed, they need do nothing more than list the lack of service as an affirmative defense in their answer to the complaint. The clear-cut rule avoids the threat of defendants lying in the weeds and giving a false sense of assurance, and conserves judicial resources by encouraging these issues to be resolved in a timely fashion.

Defendants will not be prejudiced in the presentation of their defense as a result of this waiver rule. Nor does this rule delay resolution of the case, which is the rationale behind the statute of limitations. The law-suit must still be filed within the statute of limitations and the defendant must have actual notice of the suit (as demonstrated by the notice of appearance and the commencement of discovery). The only right that is lost

is the right to insist upon actual service. As noted above, while this is a legislatively created right, it is not the type of due process right that impacts the defendants' ability to respond to a lawsuit. As such, a broad rule of waiver is consistent with public policy that cases be decided on the merits in a timely fashion. Allowing defendants who have caused harm to easily avoid litigation subverts the goals of the legal system. *See Lybbert*, 141 Wn.2d at 40 (Our holding as to waiver "underscores the importance of preventing the litigation process from being inhibited by inconsistent or dilatory conduct on the part of the litigants.")

That policy applies with equal force here. As set forth in the complaint, plaintiffs intended on serving the out of state defendants through Underwire's registered agent and the Secretary of State. The only reason this did not happen was because defendants propounded discovery on plaintiffs, thereby signifying that defendants were acknowledging the suit and moving forward with the case. Had defendants objected to the lack of service before sending over the discovery, plaintiffs would have effected service upon the Secretary of State. Defendants should not profit from their failure to file a timely objection.

5. The three-year delay in bringing a motion to dismiss constitutes waiver.

Standing alone, the commencement of discovery unrelated to the service issue before the expiration of the service period, waives an insufficient service of process defense. But this current case presents another area in which the court can clarify the waiver issue. Here, the defendants waited more than three years to file any type of objection to service.

In Raymond v. Fleming, 24 Wn. App. 112, 115, 600 P.2d 614 (1979), the court concluded that defendants were dilatory in waiting a little less than 12 months to raise the issue. In our case, the delay was much more extreme. Additionally, waiver is established through defendants' silence in response to plaintiffs' status update letters to the trial court. In her letter dated April 21, 2011, Ira Williams explained that although she had received discovery, which she hoped to answer soon, she was still in treatment for her injuries. Ira stated that she hoped to have settlement discussions soon thereafter. Id. The defense filed no responsive pleading, and did not claim a lack of jurisdiction.

On May 2, 2012, Ira sent another letter to the superior court, again asking that the case remain open. CP 9. Again defense counsel filed nothing. On April 25, 2013, Ira wrote a third letter to the trial court stating, "The parties are going to have a mediation to hopefully settle the case."

CP 10. Once again, defense counsel did not dispute this representation made to the court. In fact, defense counsel never filed an objection to the lack of service until July 30, 2013, more than three years after the filing of the lawsuit. CP 69. The court of appeals reasoned that because no real discovery was taking place, the defense had no obligation to bring the motion. But regardless of how much or how little discovery occurred during that time period, judicial economy suffers greatly when defendants are allowed to wait 37 months before challenging the court's jurisdiction to hear the case. As explained in *Lybbert*, the waiver rule is "sensible and consistent with the policy and spirit behind our modern day procedural rules." *Id.* at 39. Those rules exist to promote the just, speedy, and inexpensive determinations in every case. *Id.* The current case provides this Court with an opportunity to crack down on dilatory behavior that deprives citizens of their day in court.

F. CONCLUSION

The court of appeals acknowledged the confusion in this area of law:

Washington decisions addressing waiver of lack of service of process rarely mention the standard elements for waiver and omit analyzing a claim of waiver under the stand principles applied in other settings. This omission may result from the waiver elements being relaxed in the setting of this affirmative defense. Washington decisions addressing the defense of lack of service also blur the distinction be-

tween waiver and estoppel.

Slip Op. at 9. This language can be read as a request for more clarity and

guidance in this area of law. While Lybbert appears to be clear in its hold-

ing, there is language in Lybbert which continues to cause confusion. The

present case provides the court with an excellent opportunity to clear up

that confusion. Petitioner respectfully submits that review is appropriate

under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).