RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 23, 2015, 2:07 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. 91506-7 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 31962-8-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IRA AND ROBERT WILLIAMS,

Petitioners,

v.

UNDERWIRE SERVICES, ET AL.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert C. Tenney
Erin E. Moore
Attorneys for Respondent
Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S.
230 South Second Street
P.O. Box 22680
Yakima, WA 98907-2680
Telephone: (509) 575-8500

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Tests of Lybbert and Romjue.

Petitioners incorrectly assert that the Court of Appeals misconstrued the waiver test as set forth in <u>Lybbert</u> and <u>Romjue</u>.

According to Romjue, a defendant waives the defense of insufficient service of process if his conduct is inconsistent with a later assertion of the defense. Romjue v. Fairchild, 60 Wn. App. 278, 281, 803 P.2d 57 (1991). For instance, the defendants in Romjue had received a copy of the process server's affidavit from plaintiff's counsel showing service of process was defective some three weeks prior to transmitting discovery requests to the plaintiff. Id. at 281, 803 P.2d 57.

Further, <u>Lybbert</u> established that the defense of insufficient service of process could be waived in two ways:

first, if the defendant's assertion of the defense was inconsistent with prior behavior; and second, if defense counsel was dilatory in asserting the defense. Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn. 2d at 39, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). In Lybbert, the defendant had done "more than just undertake discovery," which included the defendant's detective contacting the plaintiff's counsel to ensure that the defendant correctly understood the nature and extent of the plaintiff's interrogatories. <u>Id.</u> at 42, 1 P.3d 1124. Counsel for the respective parties also had conversations about mediation. Id. at 42, 1 P.3d 1124. Further and "[o]f particular significance" was that the plaintiffs had served the defendant with interrogatories to determine whether the defendant was going to assert an insufficient service of process defense, and had the defendant timely responded to the interrogatories, the plaintiffs would have had several days to cure defective service. Id. at 42, 1 P.3d 1124. Instead, the defendant did not answer the interrogatories and waited until after the expiration of the limitations period to file an answer and assert the defense. <u>Id.</u> at 42, 1 P.3d 1124.

The <u>Lybbert</u> court also noted the defendant "engaged in discovery over the course of <u>several months</u> and then, after the statute of limitations had apparently extinguished the claim against it," the defendant asserted the defense. <u>Id.</u> at 44, 1 P.3d 1124 (emphasis added). Therefore, the court determined the defense had been waived. As the court explained

a defendant cannot justly be allowed to lie in wait, masking by misnomer its contention that service of process has been sufficient, and then obtain a dismissal on that ground only after the statute of limitations has run, thereby depriving the plaintiff of the opportunity to cure the service defect.

Id. at 40, 1 P.3d 1124.

Unlike the defendants in Romjue and Lybbert, counsel for Respondents was not aware that Respondents had not been served at the time a standard set of discovery requests was transmitted to Petitioners. As noted by the Court of Appeals, such behavior was not inconsistent with a later assertion of an

insufficient service of process defense, because counsel was not aware the defense existed at the time discovery was transmitted. Slip Op. at 20.

The defendants in Romjue and Lybbert had knowledge that service was not proper and/or engaged in protracted discovery until the statute of limitations expired in order to then assert the insufficient service and statute of limitations defenses. However, Respondents here were unaware that service was not affected prior to serving discovery, and after discovering Respondents were not served prior to the expiration of the limitations period, informed Petitioners' counsel during their first communication. This is no way constitutes conduct inconsistent with waiving an insufficient service of process defense as established by Washington case law.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent With Existing Law.

As noted, the Court of Appeals' application of existing case law to the facts at hand is entirely consistent with

Washington law. Further, as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, in all other Washington decisions, the plaintiff took some step and believed they had performed service. Slip Op. at 20. However, Petitioners have not claimed to have been misled into believing they had served Respondents, and have openly admitted they did not attempt service.

It is impossible for a defendant to assert a defense prior to knowing the defense exists. To suggest otherwise would indicate a defendant should assert the existence of every Rule 12(b) defense prior to knowing whether the defense is available. Not only does this present issues with the attorney certification requirement of Rule 11, but it raises ethical issues with regard to the Rules of Professional Conduct.

C. The Proposed Bright Line Rule is Inconsistent With Current Law.

According to Petitioners, the Court should create a bright line rule whereby a defendant waives the insufficient service of process defense by engaging in discovery unrelated to the defense. Therefore, they argue that Respondents should have objected to the lack of service before sending a standard set of discovery requests to Petitioners. This, of course, would have required Defendants to object to lack of service prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations—whereby Petitioners still had the opportunity to properly affect service—and prior to Respondents' counsel discovering there had been no service. (CP 114.) Thus, the proposed rule would require Respondents to assert a defense without knowing if the defense existed, expending the time and resources of counsel and the court. Such a requirement would also raise grave Civil Rule 11 and Rules of Professional Conduct ethical issues.

It can hardly be said that a rule requiring a party to act without having knowledge of whether such action is necessary would promote judicial efficiency or public policy. Instead, it would only succeed in creating a burden by expending unnecessary resources and adding gratuitous motion practice. Further, Petitioners' proposed bright line test promotes a policy

whereby plaintiffs are permitted to openly flout the civil rules and deprive defendants of their Constitutional rights with no repercussions for their own failure to act.

Despite whatever lens of liberal construction may be used to evaluate the service statute, "[1]iberal construction does not mean abandoning the statutory language entirely." Gerean v. Martin-Joven, 108 Wn. App. 963, 972, 33 P.3d 427 (2001). This is because "actual notice does not constitute sufficient service" and "proper service requires actual service on the defendant." Id. at 972, 33 P.3d 427.

It is of no import that Respondents' counsel ultimately learned of the pendency of this suit. Petitioners were required to affect service upon Respondents, and openly admit that not only were Respondents not served, but Petitioners did not even attempt service. (CP 69.) However, because Petitioners failed to conform to their duties under the civil rules, they now argue for the introduction of a bright line test excusing their neglect.

The responsibility was Petitioners' to serve Respondents. They failed to do so. Respondents' counsel did not learn of this failure until after a standard set of discovery requests was served upon Petitioners and after the statute of limitations had expired. Petitioners concede there was no malfeasance on the part of Respondents' counsel. (RP 4.) The fact that Respondents now assert the defense, once they were aware the defense exists, does not mean the defense was waived.

D. A Three-Year Delay in Bringing a Motion for Summary Judgment Does Not Constitute Waiver.

As explained in <u>Lybbert</u>, the defense of insufficient service of process may be waived if defense counsel has been dilatory in asserting the defense. <u>Lybbert v. Grant County</u>, 141 Wn. 2d at 39, 1 P.3d 1124. Again, such a rule is aimed at reducing "the likelihood that the 'trial by ambush' style of advocacy" will be used. <u>Id.</u> at 40, 1 P.3d 1124.

In <u>Raymond v. Fleming</u>, 24 Wn. App. 112, 600 P.2d 614 (1979), it was determined that defense counsel was dilatory in

asserting a service of process defense, not because counsel waited close to 12 months to assert the defense, but because counsel had repeatedly requested additional time to respond to interrogatories, failed to respond to interrogatories, and obtained two orders of continuance during that nearly 12-month period. This typifies the "lying in wait" and "trial by ambush" described in <u>Lybbert</u>.

Unlike counsel in <u>Raymond</u>, counsel for Respondents did not "lie in wait" for three years prior to asserting an insufficient service of process and statute of limitations defense. Instead, counsel notified counsel for Petitioners during their first telephone conversation that Respondents were not served prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations. Counsel never requested additional time, failed to respond to discovery requests from Petitioners, or engaged in any conduct to delay or prolong the proceedings. (CP 113; RP 14-15.) Petitioners have done nothing to prosecute their lawsuit, and ultimately, after this matter came up for Clerk's dismissal on three separate

occasions, Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. (RP 14.)

Respondent have not delayed the proceedings in this matter. There have been no proceedings to delay. There has been no dilatory conduct on the part of Respondents, and as such, there has been no waiver of the defense of insufficient service of process.

VI. CONCLUSION

The petition for review does not involve a Court of Appeals decision that is in conflict with that of this Court, nor another decision of the Court of Appeals. It does not present a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution or the United States Constitution. Further, it does not present an issue of substantial public interest. Instead, it asks the Court make a decision in direct contravention to existing case law, thereby creating a bright line rule that conflicts with the rules of civil procedure and professional conduct. As such, review should be denied.